
 
 

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND LGES 
MEETING 

 
 

4.00 pm MONDAY, 21ST SEPTEMBER, 2020 
 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place via Microsoft TEAMS AT 3.00 pm.   
This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

 
Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  

 
This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s Internet. 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 
be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

  
 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 
 

3. Draft Forward Work Programme 2020/21   

 To consider the attached report 
 

5 - 14 

4. Update on Activity - Pandemic   

 To consider the attached report 
 

15 - 58 

5. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

6. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

7. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



  
 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors:  H R Jones (Chair) 

                      S Jago (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors: H Barrett, B Carter, D Isaac and M Jones 
 
Co-optees: C Brown, R Lazell, K Phelan, M Symonds 
and K Jones 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Draft Forward Work Programme 2020/21  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its draft work programme for consideration 
and to prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Draft Forward Work Programme and 
approves, revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the 
questions at 3.7 in planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached draft forward work programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 7th September 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 21st September 2020 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 6



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 7



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 8



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 
 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 10



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the guidance from Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best 
suited to the topic area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Linked to MTCBC’s 
Wellbeing Objectives 

(Corporate Objectives)? 

Officer & Cabinet Member 
 

 (Other) 
Scrutiny Focus  

21st 
September 
2020 

Draft Annual Work 
Programme 2020/21 

BS Best Start to Life  Scrutiny and Challenge: -  To consider the draft 
Annual Work programme for 2020/21 
 

Learning Department’s 
Response to Covid-19 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the impact and 
response of the Learning Department following the 
outbreak of Covid-19.  
 

School’s Response to Covid-
19 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Head Teacher of 
Pen-Y-Dre High School / Head 
Teacher of Troedyrhiw 
Primary School 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Head Teachers of Pen-Y-
Dre High School and Troedyrhiw Primary School to 
attend to discuss schools response to Covid-19. 
 

19th October 
2020 

CSC Delivery Programme: 
Commitment to Raising 
Aspirations Raising Standards 
(RARS) 
 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Willmott: 
Senior Challenge Advisor 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To provide challenge to 
CSC in relation to their commitments towards Raising 
Aspirations and Raising Standards.  

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 2) 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

P
age 11



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the guidance from Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best 
suited to the topic area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

30th 
November 
2020 

Report on Healthy Schools 
Programme – Local Authority 
Update; and representative(s) 
from the Health Board to 
attend to discuss various 
factors which impact on 
Schools’ Healthy Work 
Programmes 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Chris Hole: Head of 
Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To present an update 
report from the Learning Department in relation to 
the Healthy Schools Programme and how this aligns 
with the Tackling Poverty agenda. Representative 
from the Health Board to attend to discuss various 
factors which impact on Schools’ Healthy Work 
Programmes. 

11th January 
2021 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 3) 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

Learning Asset Management 
Plan (21st Century Schools) 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Head of School 
Planning & Improvement 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive an update on the developments of the 
Asset Management Plan (21st Century Schools) 
projects for Learning. 

8th February 
2021 

Wellbeing: Report on Anti-
bullying  

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Chris Hole: Head of 
Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Learning Department 
will present a report which outlines the work being 
done to tackle issues around bullying across the 
County Borough including the growing issues in 
relation to cyber-bullying. The Head Teachers of … 
High School and … Primary School will also be in 
attendance to provide further insight in relation to 
the work being done around anti-bullying. 
 

15th March 
2021 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 1) 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Willmott: 
Senior Challenge Advisor 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

P
age 12



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the guidance from Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best 
suited to the topic area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Capita One System – Update 
Report 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Strand: Data 
Officer 

Scrutiny and Challenge: The Scrutiny Committee will 
receive a report on current use of Capita One within 
the Learning Department and next steps for ongoing 
development 

26th April 2021 

Focus on Additional Learning 
Needs (ALN) (report to 
include update on the 
Readiness Tool) 
 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Sarah Bowen: 
Inclusion Manager 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To receive a report on 
Additional Learning Needs (ALN) that should also 
include updates on the ‘Readiness Tool’ which was 
presented to Learning & LGES Scrutiny Committee on 
the 25th November 2019. 
 

Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) 
Update Report 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny focus for this 
item is to be confirmed. 
 

P
age 13



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the guidance from Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best 
suited to the topic area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

To invite / visit Heads and Chairs of Governance at the following schools :- 
 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful 

 Pen-y-dre High School 

 Ynysowen Community Primary School 

 Visit Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) to see what provision is available (before 8th April). 

 Visit LRB’s (Learning Resource Basis) as part of the programme of visits. 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

P
age 14



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Update on Activity – Pandemic 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 The report shows the scope and scale of the challenges faced by the Learning 
Department as a result of lockdown. 

 
1.2 It provides members with an overview of the work undertaken by the department 

during this time. 
 
1.3 It considers what needs to be done next to ensure children and young people have 

the best educational experiences possible in order to mitigate the impact of 
lockdown. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The content of this report is discussed and noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 This report aims to show the scope and scale of the impact of lockdown on the 

Learning Department and how it maintained and delivered key services to children, 

young people and their families during lockdown. 
 

3.2 The department is providing Committee Members with an overview of how the 
pandemic has affected their ability to meet the needs of children, young people and 

their families during lockdown, in order to support Committee Members to understand 

the scope and scale of the challenges faced and the ways in which responses to these 
have been designed and delivered. 

 
3.3 Committee Members are asked to consider the report’s content in line with the 

feedback they have received from the communities they represent. 
 

Date Written 6th September 2020 

Report Author Sue Walker 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Date 21st September 2020 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 On 20th March 2020 all schools closed for learning.  At the same time a high number 

of childcare settings closed although a few stayed open to provide childcare for 
keyworkers. 
 

4.2 Learning department staff were asked to work from home and arrangements were 
made to provide staff with appropriate equipment.  Staff supporting the delivery of 
Free School Meals (FSM) remained in the office for another two weeks. 
 

4.3 Since lockdown the department has continued to deliver services and support 
schools, early years settings and adult learning remotely – a summary of the 
activities can be found at Appendix 1. 
 

4.4 Most staff within the department have been able to work at home and have been 
able to continue working throughout lockdown.  A few were unable to work due to 
childcare issues but a significant number of those with childcare issues did manage 
to continue to carry out activities throughout lockdown. 
 
4.4.1 Some part-time sessional staff who deliver face-to-face work directly with 

children and young people have been unable to work due to government 
regulations. 

 
4.5 Due to the nature of the work within the department nearly all staff continued working 

within their own service area. 
 
4.5.1 The FSM team were supported by staff from other service areas as well as 

third sector organisations during the two weeks they were delivering meals. 
 
4.5.2 Across the department a number of staff were deployed to manage the 

transition of FSM from delivery to direct payments and/or vouchers.  Since 6th 
May, approximately 95% of those eligible for FSM payments have received 
either direct payments or vouchers. 

 
4.5.3 Catering staff were furloughed as this service is an income generation service 

(some catering staff provided a meal service to hub schools until week 
commencing 22nd June). 

 
4.5.4 Some Breakfast Club staff were redeployed by schools to support re-opening. 

 
4.5.5 When Track Trace and Protect started, the department’s Polish speaking 

worker supported the programmes although this support is no longer required. 
 

4.5.6 Across the department a number of staff supported the delivery of Personal 
Protective Equipment (PPE) to schools. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Staff within the department based in Unit 5 have returned to the office on a rota basis 

– those in other buildings are still working from home. 
  

5.2 As part of the Council Improvement Plan (CIP), a multi-agency Education 
Partnership Panel (EPP) has been set up.   
 Page 16



5.2.1 This panel has had its inaugural meeting and further meetings are planned 
throughout the course of this academic year. 

 
5.2.2 The panel is chaired by Nick Batchelar who has been appointed by Welsh 

Government to support education as part of the Assurance Board work. 
 
5.3 As of 14th September, all year groups except nursery are back in school and all 

nursery children are expected to be in school by 1st October 2020. 
 

5.4 A Vulnerable Learners Panel set up during lockdown continues to meet. 
 
5.5 The number of children eligible for FSM has increased by 7.4% as of beginning of 

August 2020. 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 

6.1 All childcare and school settings fully open: - 
 Breakfast clubs available for all parents subject to guidance on social distancing 

 Attendance across schools to be at least where it was prior to March 2020 

 Children, young people and staff able to access more comprehensive wellbeing 
support if needed 

 School staff able to react quickly to any local lockdown and immediately provide 
learning activities for children and young people to access at home 

 No child is digitally excluded if there is need for home learning 

 All children and young people accessing high quality educational experiences. 
 

6.2 All staff within the department able to work safely and carry out their substantive duties 
either in the workplace or where roles allow, from home. 

 

7.0 WHAT HAS CHANGED 
 
7.1 For the academic years 2019/20 and 2020/21 Welsh Government will not publish a 

range of performance measures across services, including all attainment measures 
(Flying Start, Schools, Youth Services) and attendance figures.  
 

7.2 Categorisation of schools will not take place for 2020/21.  All schools will have the 
same basic level of support from the Central South Consortium (CSC) and additional 
support will be brokered where this is needed. 
 

7.3 Corporate Schools Performance Panels will continue to meet with secondary schools 
and some primary schools to monitor progress. 
 

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO MOVING FORWARD 
 
8.1 The following will need to be undertaken to enable recovery to be swift and as robust 

as possible: 

 Produce a directory of wellbeing support for schools 
o Implement the use of PERMA wellbeing tool across all schools 
o Ensure all schools have an appropriate number of trained ELSA’s in post 

 Continue to hold the multi-agency vulnerable groups panel on a fortnightly basis to 
ensure support is provided as soon as possible to those in need and explore 
devolving this to a cluster approach. 

Page 17



 Support schools to deliver a wellbeing focussed recovery curriculum alongside 
one that is focussed on securing rapid improvement in academic skills. 

 Continue to engage with Headteachers and governing bodies as and when further 
guidance is issued from Welsh Government. 
 

8.2 Publish the Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards (RARS) strategy and develop a 
monitoring mechanism for measuring progress. 

 
8.3 Consider how best to support staff either return to their workplace or support agile 

working, ensuring that staff can respond to issues in schools and childcare settings in 
a timely manner when they arise. 

 

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

 
9.1 The content of this report relates to the following Wellbeing Objectives: 

Best start to life: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals. 

Living Well: Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community 
resilience; improving emotional wellbeing and mental health. 

 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

Page 18



Appendix 1 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
During the emergency period, 
no person may leave the place 
where they are living without a 
reasonable excuse (e.g.) 
- To get food or medical 

supplies; 
- To get money; 
- For essential work; to 

exercise – once a day 
(except for those shielding) 

Essential businesses remain 
open; however; retailers have a 
duty to ensure social distancing 
measures are observed and 
adhered to. 
Police have the power to stop 
and request information from 
people out in public; people can 
be arrested for refusing to 
provide personal details and, as 
a last resort, can be fined (Initial 
fine in Wales - £60 – rising) 

March-April 
2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
08/05/2020 
First Minister extends lockdown 
for a further 3 weeks - 
adjustment to restrictions: 

- Outdoor exercise more than 
once a day; 

- Councils can plan to reopen 
tips and libraries 

 
15/05/2020 
First Minister outlines a ‘traffic 
light’ route out of lockdown for 
Wales; which is currently in the 
red zone. 
29/05/2020 
First Minister announces the 
members of 2 households to 
meet up outdoors. 
31/05/2020 
Health Secretary announces 
those shielding can now exercise 
outdoors 

May 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
02/06/2020 
All schools to reopen on 
29/06/2020. 
05/06/2020 
UK government ban on tenant 
evictions is extended to 
23/08/2020 
08/06/2020 
Welsh Government rolls out the 
‘Track and Trace’ system to 
enable contact mapping that will 
support the reopening of facilities 
19/06/2020 
Change to restrictions: 
- Retailers to reopen from 

22/06/2020; 
- Restrictions lifted on 

outdoor sports 
22/06/2020 
Changes to restrictions: 
- Weddings/civil partnerships 

resume (ban on social 
gatherings); 

- Shielding will be lifted for 
those affected 

29/06/2020 
Two households in Wales can 
form an extended household 
enabling them to meet indoors  

June 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
02/07/2020 
Pubs, restaurants cafes and bars 
can open outdoors from 
13/07/2020 
03/07/2020 
The ‘stay local’ 5-mile travel 
restrictions are lifted removing 
limited travel from 06/07/2020 
06/07/2020 
£21 million scheme to help firms 
provide trainee places announced 
09/07/2020 
All state schools in Wales to 
reopen in September; schools will 
have limited social distancing for 
groups of pupils; but adults will 
have to maintain social distancing 
10/07/2020 
Pubs, restaurants cafes and bars 
can open indoors from 
03/08/2020 
11/07/2020 
Some holidays homes re-open in 
Wales 
13/07/2020 
- Hairdressers and barbers re-

open in Wales 

 

July 2020 

13/07/2020 
- Face coverings to become 

mandatory on public 
transport from 27/07/2020 

15/07/2020 
First Minister confirms driving 
lessons can resume in Wales from 
27/07/2020 
16/07/2020 
People who have been shielding 
will not need to do so from 
16/08/2020 
20/07/2020 
Playgrounds, outdoor gyms and 
funfairs can re-open in Wales 
23/07/2020 
Pregnant women can take 
partner to antenatal 
appointments 
24/07/2020 
Beauty salons, tattooists, nails, 
spas, tanning shops, art galleries 
and museums re-open 
27/07/2020 
Welsh Government scraps law 
requiring people to work from 
home; but people are still advised 
to work from home if this option 
exists 
31/07/2020 
Swimming pools; gyms; leisure 
centres and indoor play areas can 
reopen from 03/08/2020 
 
 
 
 

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

SUMMARY OF LOCKDOWN ACTIVITIES – LEARNING DEPARTMENT 
 
 

GENERAL 

 All teams set up Keeping in Touch (KIT) processes for children and families – this was coordinated so 
that families were not receiving too many calls from different officers – see also Appendix A 

 All managers remain in regular contact with their staff through daily contact and weekly team 
meetings.  Managers continue to oversee priorities and performance across the teams 

 Weekly staff tracking form completed to show staff now available for work 

 Variety of applications and reports completed for Welsh Government (WG) where requested 
including lessons learnt reports for Vulnerable Learners, Funding Flexibility, C-CAS, Adult Community 
Learning, Whole Schools Approach to Emotional Wellbeing, ALN additional monies, Counselling 

 Distributed accelerated learning money and cleaning allocation from WG to schools prior to 
September reopening 

 Regular contact maintained with WG to consult and update on changes to policy and guidance 

 Financial claims prepared with accountancy 

 All staff across the departments have completed the Covid Workforce Risk Assessment 

 Daily Education Senior Leadership Team meetings during lockdown 

 At least weekly meetings with Headteachers during lockdown 

 Weekly school linked trade union meetings during lockdown 

 Three-weekly meetings with all departmental team leaders during lockdown  

 Team leaders having team meetings on weekly basis during lockdown 

 Continued annual Performance management process with all staff 

 The Additional Learning Needs (ALN) team (0-16) have continued to perform its statutory functions. 
Officers have been available throughout the period, to provide advice and guidance to families and 
schools and liaise with partner agencies.  Statements of Special Educational Need have been 
completed appropriately and regular admissions panels for specialist provisions have continued via 
Microsoft Teams including those for Flying Start, the Childcare Offer and Families First  

 Welsh Education Forum met twice via Teams 

 Challenge and Support Panels for relevant schools met 

 Summer literacy reading festival for all children who are in receipt of Free School Meals (FSM) and 
their younger siblings (supported by Merthyr Valleys Homes, Wales and West Housing and Stephens 
and George Charitable Trust) 

 
SCHOOLS 

 On 20th March, school closed for learning and the Education Minister announced the repurposing of 
schools as emergency childcare provision for critical workers and facilities for vulnerable learners. 

 By the 23rd March the Learning Department set up six hubs across the authority (see Appendix B) 
o A number of children were also supported to access community-based childcare settings within 

the community 
o These arrangements included setting up an online admissions process and panel 
o The six school hub arrangements stopped on June 22nd allowing schools to reopen for Catch Up 

and Check In arrangements on June 29th. 
o From 22nd June – all schools provided their own childcare facility until the end of term (admissions 

still managed centrally) 
o Those children supported in childcare settings continued to access this provision 

 

Page 21



 Attendance during the Catch-up and Check-in period was 53.3% for primary schools and 24.5% for 
secondary schools. 

 All schools delivered home learning activities during the school lockdown period.  Engagement in this 
varied from school to school and many schools adapted their approach to the delivery of this during 
this time.  
o Advice and guidance available from the Central South Consortium to support this work and 

continues. 

 Prior to re-opening in June, all schools undertook risk assessments supported by the LA Health and 
Safety Team.  These risk assessments were shared with staff, unions and governors and have 
subsequently been re-adjusted for opening in September  
o Support was provided for schools to ensure that they have been able to reopen buildings safely, 

and advice on managing spaces and movement around buildings has been given when requested. 

 All secondary schools, LRBs, PRU and Greenfield produced transition videos to share with their new 
September intake 

 School report format – a working party of Primary Headteachers worked with a Challenge Adviser to 
develop a school report template that was used across all schools; a similar approach was undertaken 
with the secondary schools and their Challenge Advisers – these templates were also shared across 
Wales 

 Wellbeing curriculum for Catch-up & Check-in; a pack of resources was developed for all primary 
schools again with a Challenge Adviser and a group of Headteachers 

 Ongoing guidance on blended learning from Central South Consortium for schools 
 

CATERING & CLEANING 

 During lockdown standard clean for hubs, enhanced clean for suspected cases 
o Extra clean at midday – sourced through SOLO 
o All schools thorough clean prior to re-opening on 22nd June had also had thorough clean during 

summer holiday period 
o Extra clean at midday from 29th June and this will also continue for the foreseeable future 

 For two weeks from 23rd March, the local authority provided FSM bags, by the end of the two weeks 
delivering approx. 7,779 meals across the County Borough.  For the next four weeks the local 
authority provided supermarket vouchers to parents, equivalent of £3.90 per day per child.  
o Since 4th May we moved to a system of either direct payments or vouchers depending on choice 

(approximately 12% choosing vouchers) 
o Payments stopped as of 11th September – Welsh Government have funded additional costs over 

and above the budgeted costs to provide FSM. 
o Since lockdown the number of children eligible for FSM has increased by 7.4% as of August 

 
ADMISSIONS 

 All reception allocations were made in April and the service was still able to inform all parents of 
offers via email and letter 

 All secondary allocations were made prior to lockdown 

 All nursery admissions were made for the Summer term before lockdown, but due to the pandemic 
were automatically rolled on to the September 2020 allocation 

 All schools were informed of their successfully allocated pupils before the end of the academic year, 
via electronic reports 

 All mid-term admissions have been processed as and when they have arrived 

 Parent meetings have continued to take place, where necessary, via Teams 

 Continued contact with schools to ensure that all pupils have allocated school places 
 

 

Page 22



INCLUSION/ALN 

 The Inclusion Service and additional learning teams continued to support schools, parents / carers 
and pupils during lockdown through a combination of remote consultations and direct work with the 
most vulnerable children and young people (see Appendix A for summary).  It should also be noted 
that colleagues in Inclusion made several home visits, where other agencies were able to only work 
remotely to ensure the safety of the most vulnerable of pupils.  

 Additional Support Allocations were completed in lockdown and schools informed of their allocation 
for the academic year 2020/21 

 Educational Psychologists produced a training pack for schools in readiness for re-opening in June – 
this included support for anxiety, wellbeing and transition and Facebook videos produced to support 
parents and young people 

 The Early Years and Flying Start Education Psychologist is in contact with the childcare settings to 
offer support for ALN children to provide any strategies for support (part of Families First)  

 Speech and Language Training delivered online to 19 schools 

 During lockdown a Vulnerable Learners Panel was set up including staff from the Learning 
department (Early Years, Inclusion, Youth Services, Families First), Social Services, YOS, Police and 
Health to discuss provision, address issues and ensure families and their children are kept safe – this 
work was supported by a detailed database which identified which staff were keeping in touch with 
which family – it was supported by schools who were able to identify where they had concerns for 
example due to lack of engagement. 

 Since lockdown there has been additional support from the School Based Counselling Service funded 
by Welsh Government – this has reduced demand considerably and enabled The Exchange to reduce 
their waiting time 

 All Inclusion teams have continued to support transition from early years through to post-16 with 
many schools choosing to develop welcome videos for their new pupils 

 Transition information and Team Around the Child processes have continued virtually for ALN 
children who are transitioning to school in September. 

 School Nursing support has engaged with eight primary schools, three out of the four secondary 
schools and the PRU 

 A Support Guide for parents of ALN children in Early years was developed with tips and ideas for how 
to support children during Covid 19.  
 

Summer Holiday Childcare Programme  

 Mapping work was undertaken with Social Services and Learning to identify the most vulnerable 
children across the authority   

 11 families with 24 school age children accepted a place initially to attend community-based 
childcare during the summer holidays funded through the WG Summer Holiday programme.  

 Throughout the summer a further 18 children, involved with Social Services, have been supported to 
access community-based childcare 

 Social Services have been kept updated on non-attendance.  
 

English as and Additional Language (EAL)/Gypsy Travellers (GT) 

 Produced home learning packs of resources for EAL/GT pupils related to language acquisition and 
wellbeing; identified digitally excluded EAL/GT learners; sourced and purchased curriculum and 
wellbeing books for EAL/GT pupils; created and delivered paper-based resources and learning packs;  
o delivered sanitary products to Yr6 and secondary pupils. 

 Worked closely with schools to ensure that EAL/GT pupils were engaging with learning 
o   where they were not, carried out follow-up visits to offer support 

 Supported EAL/GT children and young people to complete the Children's Commissioners Coronavirus 
& Me survey 

 Drafted EAL/GT Newsletter to be circulated to schools 

Page 23



 
GOVERNING BODIES 

 At the start of the academic year 2019/20 all governors were given access to Hwb 

 Since lockdown there has been a change in how we meet with Governing Bodies, which has been a 
huge success and all schools have managed to meet virtually via Microsoft Teams – business as usual 
online 

 Work has been more diverse working differently across teams to support schools 

 Specific activities include 
o Weekly wellbeing check with Headteacher and chair of Governors 
o Daily collection of School HUB and check in data 
o Support for Governors accessing Hwb and Microsoft Teams 
o Closing of financial account 2019/20, setting budget 2020/21 feeding into Mid Term Financial 

Plan (MTFP) 
o Support for staff interviews  

 Three meetings have been held with Chairs of Governors during this time and they have been copied 
into the main emails to Headteachers so that they and other Governors are informed of the changing 
landscape 

 
MUSIC SERVICE 

 All school pupils receiving instrumental/vocal lessons invited to an online, weekly, musically-themed 
quiz in place of the usual rehearsals; during the quiz all members practiced (muted!) a newly 
commissioned piece in preparation for when weekly rehearsals are permitted to restart 

 Supported in one of the hubs on a weekly basis 

 Remote lessons in three primary schools and three secondary schools 

 Wellbeing workshops at end of term in two schools 
 

EARLY YEARS 
The Early Language Development (ELD) Offer (part of Families First) 

 The ELD team and Flying Start Speech and Language Therapist continue to work with all open cases, 
using video links and phone calls to encourage families to continue to support their child’s early 
language development 

 Language resource packs have been distributed to families 

 Engagement of new children into ELD opportunities through the health team and self-referrals 

 Merthyr Tydfil chosen as one of four UK Local Authorities to work closely with the BBC on their Tiny 
Happy People 10-year language and communication campaign for early years 

 Weekly ‘closed’ ELD sessions started to be delivered ‘live’ by a multimedia platform, plus ‘bitesize’ 
sessions promoted to the wider community via Facebook pages 

 Daily ELD activity posts to the Flying Start Facebook page 
 

Childcare Offer & C-CAS 

 The Childcare Offer was suspended for new applications from 1st April 2020 and funding was 
repurposed to C-CAS 

 104 pre-school children and older siblings of keyworkers and vulnerable children were funded via C-
CAS to attend childcare up until 31st August 2020 

 Childcare Offer reinstated from 1st September 2020 
 

Flying Start  

 Flying Start eligible children were re-introduced back to childcare from 29th July 2020; this was on a 
reduced basis in line with guidance.  Early indication suggests that circa 22% of Flying Start children 
attended some level of childcare in the three weeks before the end of term 

Page 24



 It is expected that the majority of Flying Start children will resume back to childcare in September on 
a phased basis 

 The Flying Start childcare team has drafted blended opportunities in the Early Years Good Practice 
Guide which offers advice on engaging with and supporting children and their families when they are 
not attending childcare 
 

Local Authority managed Flying Start Childcare settings  

 There are three Local Authority managed Flying Start pre-school settings and recent activity has 
included;   
o Managing all CIW notifications of change including moving from sessional care to full day-care 

(childcare hub)  
o Communicating with CIW via telephone and email 
o Setting up Facebook pages for settings to communicate with their families, Facebook parent 

contract developed 
o Induction, transition videos developed for new starters  
o Transition meetings held for new families  
o Developing new policies and practices to comply with Covid guidance; Developing risk 

assessments for reopening of childcare, in line with WG advice: Protective measures in childcare 
settings: Keep Childcare Safe  

o Preparing the physical environment for reopening 
o Developing protocols for dealing with suspected and positive cases of Covid 19. 

 
YOUTH SERVICE 
Targeted Supported – referral through schools, Early Help Hub, Social Services 
Inspire to Work (Post 16) 

 Supporting young people with job search, job applications mock interviews and CV’s over the phone 
or via video conferencing 

 Young people have been enrolled onto e-learning courses e.g. Food Safety, with support provided by 
a tutor 

 Resources have been updated for delivery of new Agored Cymru PSE units.  
School Support Team 

 BTEC Level One PSD certificates have been claimed (prior to school closures).  Awaiting update from 
Pearon Edexcel on BTEC Level Two qualifications.  Preparation is underway for delivery in the new 
academic year.  
 

Universal, Open Access Service, Local Authority & Commissioned Providers 
Street Based Team 

 Currently deploying for four shifts per week using intelligence from South Wales Police 
 

Open Access Youth Clubs (including commissioned providers (Treharris Boys & Girls Club, Georgetown 
Boys & Girls Club, Urdd/Menter Iaith, Dowlais Engine House, Gellideg Foundation, Twynrodyn Action 
Group, Merthyr Valley Homes (Gurnos), Willow’s Centre, (Troedyrhiw)) 

 Virtual Youth Club is being delivered at various times throughout the week to deliver a variety of 
activities, including quizzes, podcasts, competitions, open mic, keep fit, etc 

 Weekly phone contact with vulnerable young people is taking place, discussing any concerns or issues 
that they may be experiencing 

 Youth workers are available via Messenger on a rota basis to deal with queries and concerns 

 Information and advice is updated and posted on youth clubs own social media sites 

 Staff and young people have been involved in the delivery of activity packs, hygiene packs and food 
parcels to families and individuals in their communities 

 

Page 25



Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF) 

 Regular meetings, via video conferencing, are held with members of the Youth Forum to discuss 
current and future projects 

 The Forum has contributed to recent discussions on the effectiveness of current on-line learning 
arrangements with schools and the new RARS Strategy 

 The Forum has completed a recycling competition, been involved in the development of a reading 
festival and are producing a documentary on the local impact of Covid-19, with involvement of the 
First Minister 
 

NEET’s Team 

 Monitoring and tracking of Year 11 ‘high risk’ potential NEET and post 16 NEET young people is taking 
place through regular contact with schools, Inspire to Achieve and other youth service targeted 
teams, Careers Wales, Communities for Work, College Merthyr Tydfil and work-based learning 
 

ADULT COMMUNITY LEARNING 

 Adult education tutors have maintained a Keeping in Touch (KIT) approach with learners using a 
variety of communication methods - phones, text, emailing and online tools such as Microsoft 
Teams.  Wherever possible, course delivery has been maintained digitally, with course work shared 
via electronic means and for learners without access the use of postal services, via workbooks and 
tasks 

 Initially learner numbers were low as everyone dealt with the impact of the pandemic.  Learner 
numbers have increased, with the hope that as schools and community venues open, many more 
learners will reengage 

 A number of training sessions for staff in the use of digital media have been set.  Tutors exploring 
and using their newly acquired skills to work towards enhancing their delivery and online blended 
learning approaches.  However, the development of digital and remote learning continues to be a 
challenge for both staff and learners, and will be a key focus and priority for the department going 
forward with the use of the WG Digital 2030 additional capital grant to address IT poverty 

 For the Family programmes, three out of the five schools have already confirmed they would like to 
offer the course for the new academic year and the rolling programme of skills clubs and 
ECDL/online basics continues to be offered.  Until schools and community venues have confirmed 
the details of opening up their venues, courses will be continued to be offered digitally.  

 
OTHER FAMILIES FIRST ACTIVITIES 
Integrated Counselling  

 Extra capacity secured through WG grant 

 Normal hours throughout lockdown 

 Online content developed through You-Tube videos focussing on emotional wellbeing themes 

 Bespoke programmes for families delivered via video calls 

Parenting 

 Supporting Parent peer support groups using Facebook/Messenger 

 Delivery hours remain same 

 Virtual groups – parents participating with other parents 

 Use of social media platforms increased to support parents  
Team Around the Family 

 Continued to work as usual 

 In addition, took on extra 23 cases who could not be allocated to specific projects due to lockdown 

 TAF panel met virtually on fortnightly basis 

Key Working, Family Support, Young Carers (Barnardo’s) 

 Delivery hours remain the same 

Page 26



 Coordinating with other services 

 Access to foodbanks and providing vouchers for milk, etc, delivering welfare packs 

 Providing advocacy 

 
CAPITAL PROJECTS 
Planning and development for future projects continued through lockdown and communication with all 
partners has been maintained. 
 
Schools 

 Major Capital projects ongoing during the pandemic 
o YYG New Build (Band A) 
o Trelewis additional classroom and internal reconfiguration works 

o Ysgol Santes Tudful additional classroom 

o Community Hub extension 

o Ty Dysgu Dowlais Bungalow and main building refurb / reconfiguration   
o Electrical rewiring and new gas heating system projects in Cyfarthfa Park and Gwaunfarren 

Primary Schools 

o Cyfarthfa High school site security works  
o Internal reconfiguration providing additional classroom space in Pant and Caedraw Primary 

schools. 
o Edwardsville Primary accessibility adaptations 

 Capital maintenance programmes have also been carefully assessed and prioritised with many works 
undertaken during the summer including major roof repairs, toilet upgrades, replacement boilers and 
heating controls etc. 

 

Early Years 

 Continue to Progress 2020/21 Childcare Offer capital programme with Property Services including 
architect plans, capital agreements, lease agreements and liaising with providers and schools 

 Prioritising Flying Start Capital projects that can be completed in 2020/21 

 Small grants scheme (Early Years) - obtaining an update from providers that have been awarded 
funding.  Held a virtual panel meeting to discuss the applications made for funding. 

 

CAPITA ONE 

 Prior to COVID MTCBC became the first local authority in Wales and the second across both England 
and Wales to move to Capita Cloud hosting services.  Go live date was 20th January 2020. 

 This has provided the benefit of all staff across the Learning Department that access Capita One being 
able to continue to access Capita One remotely throughout the duration of the pandemic, without 
the need for technical installation and support to set up 

 Any technical issues experienced over this period have been dealt with by a dedicated and responsive 
support team so that issues have been resolved quickly. 

 A reliable technical solution is allowing us to move forward with plans to develop our use of the 
software as significantly less time is taken up dealing with technical issues and delays. 

 Since COVID good progress has been made in the emerging priority re the SEND module for 
modernising the transfer and sharing of information relating to SEN statements, panels, professional 
advices etc. as well as the recording of Children Looked After information on Capita One 

 There is still an urgent need to increase the capacity of staffing to support the use of Capita One 
moving forward 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix B 

1. Learners who have SEN – areas you may wish to consider 

MTCBC response 

The processes below are a global approach of support and as such apply to all 

our vulnerable learners. 

Background information 

The COVID pandemic and the Stay at Home rules have required several adjustments to 

services that support vulnerable families. Colleagues across the LA have been responsive 

and flexible to these changes.  

There has been concern about the impact of these changes for children at risk and their 

families, as schools close and services reduce their visiting and intervention in the 

community in order to protect the public and staff.  

Support for all vulnerable learners  

Since the closure of our schools the priority has been to significantly reduce social contact to 
reduce the transmission of Covid 19, while continuing to provide support for vulnerable 
learners. In most cases, children have been cared for by their families in the home, and 
schools have been providing support remotely, working with other agencies where 
necessary.  

 
A centralised admissions process for the children of keyworkers and for those deemed as 

vulnerable has been established with clear criteria, to allocate a place to one of the hubs in 

the LA.   

As we have been working to different arrangements it has been important that colleagues 

from different agencies and settings work together now more so than ever to enable the 

safety and wellbeing of the most vulnerable children. A vulnerable learners panel has also 

been established. This is multi-agency group made up of colleagues from  

EWS, EPS, ALN, Special Tuition, Families First, Youth Support Services, EAL/GT Team, 

YOS, EHE, CLA.  

The LA has identified the learners deemed as the most vulnerable. A keyworker has been 

allocated to Keep in Touch (KIT) with these learners. A triage panel meets weekly to discuss 

any concerns that have been received via the EWS mailbox.  School and agencies have 

been asked to report by exception to the mailbox below. This return should only include 

feeding back on things over and above what teams would deal with as part of their usual 

daily business.  

Education Welfare Team Education.WelfareTeam@merthyr.gov.uk 

Concerns are recorded, and team members are identified to undertake the next steps. KIT 

guidance and questions to use when contacting the family have been produced to support 

colleagues as part of this process. All concerns that cannot be dealt with via this process are 

escalated to the Bronze Command Safeguarding Panel.   

Merthyr Tydfil Bronze Command for Safeguarding 

Bronze Command meetings have been set up in each of the three local authorities in the 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg region for the following purposes: 

Page 29

mailto:Education.WelfareTeam@merthyr.gov.uk


2 
 

 To provide interim operational oversight for safeguarding during COVID-19. 

 To receive direction from the Silver Command on priorities and the allocation of 

resources. 

 To ensure that the critical safeguarding priorities of agencies are effective in respect 

of those who are most at risk.  

 Review local safeguarding data and themes/trends in relation to operational activity. 

 To identify barriers to the delivery of operational priorities and seek to resolve. 

 Report to the Silver Command on a weekly basis on issues for escalation and local 

safeguarding data and themes/trends in relation to operational activity. 

Shielded pupils 

Each LA has received a list of its shielded pupils from Public Health Wales. These are 

children and young people who should not be leaving their home at this time due to 

underlying health conditions. Schools, the admission panel and the vulnerable learners 

panel are privy to these names to ensure their health and wellbeing.  

Period Dignity 

Sanitary products have been made available to young females in the community and those 

attending the hubs who might be at risk of suffering from period poverty.   

Operation Encompass  

The police continue to provide the LA with details of those learners who have been victims of 

or witnesses to incidents of domestic abuse. Colleagues in EWS are then able to inform the 

school to make them aware of the situation as part of their KIT process.  

Curriculum and learning 
 

What arrangements are in place, across different provisions and phases of education, to 
ensure the continuity of learning for all learners on the SEN register? 

 
What is currently working well 
School staff and LA colleagues are working as keyworkers for their pupils, including 
regular Keeping In Touch (KIT) activities; provision of planned work packs and online 
resources has been addressed.  
 
Schools and professionals are signposting parents/carers to one of the eight Educational 
Psychology (EP) Wellbeing Packs, EP videos on Facebook, the EP phone helpline or 
referring directly to EPs for individual virtual advice/support. Families are also signposted 
to online resources from other agencies, such as National Autistic Society and Council for 
Disabled Children and the Behaviour Support Team/Outreach telephone consultation 
service.  
 
Where KIT is not working/contact not established, there is a clear process of escalation 
from keyworker to their senior managers, followed by referral to the weekly LA vulnerable 
learners panel if further escalation is required. Vulnerable learners and keyworker’s 
children, aged 5-14 years, who meet criteria have access to a Hub. This a childcare 
service rather than an educational provision. 
 
In addition, normal processes such as weekly ALN Clearing Panel and Special Tuition 
Panel, requests for statutory assessment and termly placement panels for the specialist 
provisions have continued, via Teams, to ensure that crucial decisions and support are not 
deferred/delayed. 

Page 30



3 
 

 
Diagnostic neurodevelopmental (ND) forums continue to be attended by EPs virtually, to 
ensure that there no delays in the diagnositic process for families. 
 
 
What the current barriers are 
Some families are not as keen to the KIT approach as others. It can be difficult to ensure 
that work is completed even where it is provided, as families may be trying to juggle 
home-working alongside: home-schooling, childcare, general family chores, and caring for 
fmaily members who are in poor health. 
 
The guidance from WG has been clear – it is not possible or desirable to replicate school 
at home. COVID-19 is a new situation for everyone and due to the unique composition of 
families, everyone has a different experience. 
 
Alternate arrangements have been made for transition where learners are changing 
placement: phone calls, booklets and virtual tours are currently replacing the traditional 
school transition visits. 
 
Annual Reviews of Statements are not able to continue via their usual method.These have 
been replaced by virtual meetings, where families are in agreement. Some have stated 
that they would rarther wait until the schools reopen.  
 
Further guidance, support and professional learning needs 
As processes have been developed, it has been possible to identify the types of needs 
and challenges that are emerging from the current situation. Support packs have been 
produced by a variety of agencies (including EPS, CSC, voluntary sector and WG) on 
numerous subjects (for example bereavement, wellbeing ( physical and mental) anxiety, 
domestic violence, Child Sexual Exploitation, online learning and safety). These have 
been shared widely throughout the LA, with support services, schools, parents and 
learners, indeed with all stakeholders via websites and KIT. As a consequence there is 
almost an overload of materials which can lead in itself to a fatigue as professionals, 
parents and learners try to establish which resources are the most relevant for their 
individual needs. The speed at which the situation arose has determined the need for a 
swift response. Although, a plethora of resources have been produced,feedback from 
some of our learners is that they would prefer face to face delivery/support.  
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
Alongside this emergency situation, the demands for a return to  ‘normality’ continues. 
There are growing concerns of the impact of lockdown restrictions on the mental health of 
pupils and professionals should it persist for much longer.  
In order to plan for recovery, consideration needs to be given to emotional needs and a 
recovery curriculum focusing on wellbeing is currently being constructed, to support 
learners and professionals alike, to make the transition back into school.  
 
A Wellbeing Working Party has been established, comprising of a Challenge Advisor, 
Head Teachers and Deputy Principal EP, to coordinate recovery wellbeing and recovery 
curriculum advice to schools.The EPS has consulted with schools in order to produce a 
Recovery Advice pack and Recovery Training to be delivered w/c 01.06.20. 
 
The practicalities of social distancing including the timetabling of pupils and stringent 
hygiene has already begun. Support services have adapted their practice to maintain 
contact with learners and schools throughout the lockdown, via telephone calls, emails 
and virtual meetings. It is likely that this will need to be continued until the recovery period 
has concluded. 

Page 31



4 
 

The financial cost of the virus cannot be forgotten nor under-estimated. Families have lost 
income, we could potentially have more  learners falling into the vulnerable learners 
bracket, including FSM.   
 

How can we assure ourselves that learning materials and other resources provided are 
appropriate to the known needs of learners with SEN? 
 
What is currently working well 
Learning materials have been produced and provided for learners by class teachers and 
specialist support staff who know their needs.However, it is not possible to replicate the 
school environment at home. Specialist resources, such as Perkins Braillers and radio 
aids, have been loaned for use at home. Learning packs from Teacher of the Deaf, QTVI 
and SALT have been provided for pupils.  
 
Schools and support agencies have identified families who require additional support and 
guidance and referred them to individual EPs or the EPS and BST/Outreach phone 
helplines. 
 
What the current barriers are 
It is important to note that provision of appropriate learning materials and other resources 
does not guarantee that the learner will progress. This depends on a number of factors 
including their engagement, time available for parents to support with learning, emotional 
state, etc. 
In nearly all cases it is not possible to replicate access to hydrotherapy or specialist 
sensory facilities.  
 
Some families have struggled to stay connected due to the lack of functioning devices. 
Schools and charity partners have requested suitable devices to ensure that all pupils 
have access to online learning.  
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
Some activities will need careful consideration. For example, learners who require 
provision of hydrotherapy, or moving and handling. There are implications for both the 
training of staff and general delivery with learners. However, to try to mitigate the risk of 
these learners being without these types of activities, Greenfield Special has remained 
open throughout lockdown to accommodate those children of keyworkers and their pupils 
most vulnerable.  
 

What arrangements have we made to ensure that all learners with SEN have access to 
appropriate and, if ordinarily available to them, specialist learning resources and/or 
technology? 
 
As above 

In addition, WG money for IT equipment is being used to support learners who are digitally 
excluded.  
 

What arrangements have we put in place to ensure that learners with SEN, particuarly 
those in year 11 and year 13, are not unfairly disadvantaged or indeed discriminated 
against by not having agreed access arrangements, made available to them during those 
aspects of their work and studies, that will now be used to determine examination grades? 

 
Access arrangements for examinations planned this term will have been applied for last 
year.  Where pupils had access to this support, consideration of this has been taken into 
account when accessing work. 

Page 32



5 
 

 
The college in MTCBC has been working with the Welsh Government, other FE colleges, 
regional consortia and schools across Wales to develop a range of materials and 
resources to support year 11 transition. These resources and materials have now been 
uploaded onto a dedicated Year 11 Bridge to Post 16 Learning Hwb. 
 
The Hwb provides an extensive range of information, which will be regularly up-dated, to 
help learners explore their Post 16 options. 
 
https://hwb.gov.wales/distance-learning/post-16-learning-and-skills/year-11-bridge-to-post-
16-learning-and-skills/  
 
In addition to the Hwb, the college is in the process of finalising their own sets of year 11 
transition materials for each individual subject area. These will be emailed out to all of 
their applicants straight after Whitsun. The links for these will be sent to schools so that 
they can be put on communication platforms that schools have for pupils and parents.  
 

What arrangements have we put in place to ensure the continuity of education and care 
for learners in independent special school settings? 

 
Regular contact is maintained with independent/specialist school settings outside of the 
LA, where Merthyr Tydfil pupils attend. Feedback has been provided with regard to KIT 
with pupils and families. When appropriate/required, annual reviews of statements are 
being organised, in liasion with MT. 
 

Welfare, equity and wellbeing 
 

What arrangements have we made to ensure that the therapeutic provision that learners 
with SEN ordinarily access, is being maintained and accessed by learners? 

 
What is currently working well 
Learning materials have been produced and provided for learners by specialist support 
staff who know their needs.However, it is not possible to replicate the school environment 
at home. Specialist resources, such as Perkins Braillers and radio aids, have been loaned 
for use at home. Learning packs from Teacher of the Deaf, QTVI and SALT have been 
provided for pupils. Counselling provision is being offered via telephone calls/online. 
KIT keyworkers are supporting families by answering queries, offering advice and 
guidance. Good relationships with most families has helped to support pupils and parents 
wellbeing through support guidance and reassurance.   
 
Schools and support agencies have identified families who require additional support and 
guidance and referred them to the relevant EP Wellbeing packs, FB videos, individual EPs 
or the EPS phone helpline, as well as the Telephone consualtation service offerd by the 
BST/Outreach Service.  
 
With the introduction of the Coronavirus Bill and the guidance issued by the Government 
adaptations have had to be made to the delivery of health services to children and young 
people across the country. The Health Board has made ‘Reasonable Endeavours’ to comply 
with Special Educational Needs requirements as specified in the Code of Practice and in 
the child’s Statement of SEN. The SEN duties of the Health Board are still absolute, but due 
to the current pandemic certain functions e.g. face to face contact is only permitted in 
situations where there is defined clinical risk that cannot be managed alternatively. Details 
of the service modifications that will be made to the delivery of Statements provision have 
been shared with schools and colleagues. The aim of this is to ensure that all SEN duties 

Page 33

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fhwb.gov.wales%2Fdistance-learning%2Fpost-16-learning-and-skills%2Fyear-11-bridge-to-post-16-learning-and-skills%2F&data=02%7C01%7CMarie.Saunders%40gov.wales%7Cef8e4387f7b241d65a5e08d7fb616e4b%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637254268183674777&sdata=8lZwkbQ2XBlCfyR%2FZLshfsIkf3zqX6te%2F19CC9zf4nA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fhwb.gov.wales%2Fdistance-learning%2Fpost-16-learning-and-skills%2Fyear-11-bridge-to-post-16-learning-and-skills%2F&data=02%7C01%7CMarie.Saunders%40gov.wales%7Cef8e4387f7b241d65a5e08d7fb616e4b%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637254268183674777&sdata=8lZwkbQ2XBlCfyR%2FZLshfsIkf3zqX6te%2F19CC9zf4nA%3D&reserved=0


6 
 

are being maintained and fulfilled but specifies that the delivery of the provision during the 
Coronavirus pandemic may be in a different format/mode. 
 
What the current barriers are 
Therapies such as OT and physiotherapy have not been able to offer the same type of 
support during the lockdown. Telephone support has been available, to encourage 
families to continue programmes at home where practicable and possible. 
  
Further guidance, support and professional learning needs 
Some activities will need careful consideration. For example, learners who require hands 
on provision of hydrotherapy, or moving and handling. There are implications for both the 
training of staff and general delivery with learners. 
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
Some activities will need careful consideration. For example, learners who require 
provision of hydrotherapy, or moving and handling. There are implications for both the 
training of staff and general delivery with learners. However, to try to mitigate the risk of 
these learners being without this type of provision, Greenfield Special has remained open 
throughout lockdown to accommodate those children of Keyworkers and their most 
vulnerable learners. 
 

To what extent is there a co-ordinated approach between the local authority directorates 
[eg eduction and social care] in determining the risk and protective factors for families of, 
and learners with SEN, in making appropriate support, care, education and/or for 
example, respite provision available to them? 
 
What is currently working well 
A weekly admissions panel is held to consider referrals for the Hub provision. Vulnerable 
learners and keyworker’s children, aged 5-14 years, who meet criteria have access to the 
hub. This offers respite and a childcare service rather than an educational provision. 
 
Where KIT is not working/contact not established, there is a clear process of escalation 
from schools who refer to the weekly LA Vulnerable Learners panel if further escalation is 
required. This panel is multi-agency and includes education, social care and vouluntary 
sector representatives. A keyworker is allocated, based on the agency deemed to be most 
suitable to the learner’s needs as presented in the referral. Representatives of the CLA 
team, Early Help Hub, Supporting Change, Inclusion  and ALN Clearing panels are 
present to ensure a coordinated approach. Should further barriers be in place then theses 
cases are escalted to the Bronze Command group, which meets weekly, by the Inclusion 
Mananger. This is made up of colleagues Education, Health, Socail Services, Police and 
Probation. Actions are then confirmed at this group.  
 
A twice weekly admissions panel is held to consider referrals for the Hub provision. 
Vulnerable learners and keyworker’s children, aged 5-14 years, who meet criteria have 
access to the hub. This offers respite and a childcare service rather than an educational 
provision. Numbers of learners accessing a hub are gradually increasing. 
 
Guidance has been produced for key workers which includes advice on using a 
‘psychological first aid’ approach with families at this time, which has been well received.  
 

What arrangements do we have in place to ensure that; specialist support, advice and 
guidance is being maintained and accessed by learners, parents and education settings? 
 
Please see above.  
 

Page 34



7 
 

What is currently working well 
Specialist support is being offered as part of the KIT process. In addition to these 
parents/carers can contact the Behaviour Support/Outreach Team for a telephone 
consultation e.g. concerns on managing the behaviour of children with ASD. The EPS has 
also produced leaflets on their support line offer. Further Wellbeing Packs have been 
produced by the EPS on online safety, Relationship based Play, Diet and Exercise.  
 
Schools and specialist staff are keyworking for their pupils, including regular KIT, provision 
of planned work packs and signposting to online resources.  
LA staff have continued to work and are available to learners, parents and education 
settings via telephone and email. Online meetings viaTeams are used where practicable. 
 
What the current barriers are 
Services make provision, as outlined above. However, we cannot guarantee /have no 
means of enforcing parents and learners to undertake the activities/learning opportunities 
provided. In addition to this, feedback has been received from parents and learners that 
they would prefer face to face delivery.  
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
It is not possible to replicate the school environment at home. Support has been available, 
to encourage families to continue programmes at home where practicable and possible. 
This will need to be considered as part of a national and local recovery plan.  
 
Unfortunately, there have been a number of deaths in the local area in recent weeks and 
the EPS Critical Incident sub group, has continued to collaborate with partner agencies in 
order to best support schools and the wider communities following each of these events. 
This has involved modifications to existing practices, such as attendance at Immediate 
Response Group and PRUDIC meetings via telephone conference, extensive telephone 
support to school staff and support meetings for groups of parents via video link. The EPS 
CI subgroup has also modified existing documentation and advice with regards identifying 
those that are vulnerable and in need of support and produced specific advice for parents, 
with regards supporting children who have experienced loss and bereavement at this time.  
 
To what extent have we re-focussed the role of our specialist support services to provide 
direct support, advice and guidance to learners and their families? 

 
What is currently working well 
As above  

The role of specialist support services as keyworkers has ensured that regular contact has 
been made with learners on their caseloads, to supplement the work of schools and other 
support services and to signpost families to other services, as required. Support packs 
help and guidance has been provided for learners and their parents/carers. 
Specialist resources have been loaned/provided for learners where appropriate. 
 
Schools and professionals are signposting carers to one of the eight EP Wellbeing Packs, 
EP videos on Facebook, the EP phone helpline or referring directly to EPs for individual 
virtual advice/support. Families are also signposted to online resources from other 
agencies, such as NAS and Council for Disabled Children as well as to the Telephone 
consualtation service offerd by the BST/Outreach Service. 
 
What the current barriers are 
As above 

It is not possible to replicate the school environment at home. Support has been available, 
to encourage families to continue programmes at home where practicable and possible. 

Page 35



8 
 

However, the support that has been made available is available online and feedback that 
we have received from some learners is that they would prefer face to face delivery. 
 
Further guidance, support and professional learning needs 
Schools and specialist support services have learnt to adapt their service delivery to make 
use of technology within the confines of safe practice. 
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
Remote support can supplement, but not replace direct support for learners. It is not 
possible to replicate the school environment at home. Learners are being provided with 
support through a national emergency rather than home-schooling. With all of the 
changes, stress, trauma that learners and staff have been exposed both national and local 
recovery pleans will need to focus on wellbeing. This will enable learning readiness.  
 

Organisational 
 

Are we, as a local authority and schools aware that until temporary notices are issued by 
the Education Minister our statutory duties, in relation to SEN, remain in force? 

 
What is currently working well 
We are aware that at present our statutory duties in relation to SEN remain in force. 
Colleagues in Inclusion/ALN have had to deliver an even tighter joined up approach to 
ensure that timeframes are met for those cases that were already in the system. Advices 
have been gathered and reports written while working remotely. The weekly Clearing 
Panel has continued to take place, also remotly, where cases have been discussed and 
decisions made in order for draft statements to be sent and others to be finalised.   
Processes remain therefore in place to ensure the continuation of statutory assessment 
during this period, as far is reasonably practicable. Ongoing production/draft /final/ 
amended Statements of ALN continues.  

 Keeping in touch with teachers/staff/families (as required) regarding needs of 
learners, trouble shooting and offering further ideas. 

 Offering support to LRB teachers/ALNCos via email and telephone. 

 Telephone consultations: teachers able to refer families in who they have been 
supporting, but who need further guidance/advice/more specialised support from 
BST/Outreach and EPS.  
  

What the current barriers are 
It is disappointing that WG has not taken on board the requests from LAs for temporary 
notices in relation to SEN. As stated previously, it is not possible to replicate the school 
environment at home.  Additionally, in terms of statutory assessment, it is not currently 
possible to undertake direct observation and assessment of pupils to inform advices from 
Health services and EPS. As a result, Educational Psychology Advice (Appendix D) has 
been written based on the most current assessment and observation data available with a 
caveat that further work may be required at the end of lockdown.  EPs have spoken with 
parents/carers and schools and where possible (and safe) with pupils too.  However, we 
are concerned that this is not the same as spending time with pupils, getting to know 
them, exploring their strengths, struggles, and hopes and gaining their views.  The 
information contained in the resultant Statement of SEN is therefore compromised and 
cannot be guaranteed to be the best reflection of pupil needs.   
 
Further guidance, support and professional learning needs 
It would have been helpful if the Education Minister had been able to relax the timeframes 
around the statutory duties in relation to SEN, in line with relaxing other statutory duties, 

Page 36



9 
 

i.e. FPNs for non-attendance, early in lockdown as it would have alleviated unnecessary 
pressure. However, a temporary notice from WG would still be welcomed.  
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
LAs are doing the best job they can in relation to SEN provision within the current 
confines. Once learners return to school, there will need to be an understanding that this 
will not be the same learning environment that was previously available. Appropriate and 
proportionate adjustments will need to be made. Staff, learners, and parents will need to 
be flexible.  
 

How can we assure ourselves [LA and schools] that the needs of learners with statements 
of SEN are being met? 

As above  
 

What is currently working well 
Keeping in touch with teachers/staff/families (as required) regarding needs of learners, 
trouble shooting and offering further ideas and advice.  

 Offering support to LRB teachers/ALNCos via email and telephone. 

 Telephone consultations: teachers able to refer families in who they have been 
supporting, but who need further guidance/advice/more specialised support  

 Annual Reviews of Statements are not able to continue via their usual 
method.These were initially deferred but subsequently have been replaced by 
virtual meetings, where families are in agreement.  

 
What the current barriers are 
It is disappointing that WG has not taken on board the requests from LAs for temporary 
notices in relation to SEN. As previously stated, it is not possible to replicate the school 
environment at home 
 
Further guidance, support and professional learning needs 
It would have been helpful if the Education Minister had been able to relax the timeframes 
around the statutory duties in relation to SEN, in line with relaxing other statutory duties, 
i.e. FPNs for non-attendance, early in lockdown as it would have alleviated unnecessary 
pressure. However, a temporary notice from WG would still be welcomed.  
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
LAs are doing the best job they can in relation to SEN provision within the current 
confines. Once learners return to school, there will need to be an understanding that this 
will not be the same learning environment that was previously available. Appropriate and 
proportionate adjustments will need to be made. Staff, learners, and parents will need to 
be flexible.  
 

What guidance have we issued to schools to ensure that they are clear around legal and 
local authority expectations in relation to the continuity of learning for all learners with 
SEN? 

 
Advice and guidance has been shared with colleagues in the LA and with schools to 
ensure that all are clear on their statuatory duties.  
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
A relaxation in the timeframes around the statutory duties in relation to SEN, would be 
beneficial to all. Once learners return to school, there will need to be an understanding 
that this will not be the same learning environment that was previously available. 

Page 37



10 
 

Appropriate and proportionate adjustments will need to be made. Staff, learners, and 
parents will need to be flexible.  
 

What arrangements have we made to ensure the continuation of the statutory assessment 
process? 
As above  
 

What is currently working well 
Statutory assessment process continues as normal with very few cases ‘on pause’. Panel 
process continues to record and monitor assessments on a weekly basis. Statutory 
timescales for ongoing assessments are being maintained. Proposed and Final 
statements have continued to be produced and sent within required statutory timescales.  
Annual Reviews of Statements are not able to continue via their usual method.These were 
initially deferred, but subsequently have been replaced by virtual meetings, where families 
are in agreement.  
 
What the current barriers are 
As above  

 
Further guidance, support and professional learning needs 
It would have been helpful if the Education Minister had been able to relax the timeframes 
around the statutory duties in relation to SEN, in line with relaxing other statutory duties, 
i.e. FPNs for non-attendance, early in lockdown as it would have alleviated unnecessary 
pressure. However, a temporary notice from WG would still be welcomed.  
 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
LAs are doing the best job they can in relation to SEN provision within the current 
confines. Once learners return to school, there will need to be an understanding that this 
will not be the same learning environment that was previously available. Appropriate and 
proportionate adjustments will need to be made. Staff, learners, and parents will need to 
be flexible.  
 

Do we have a co-ordinated approach in providing parents of pupils with SEN with up-to-
date, accessible information in relation to: continuity of learning, provision and access to 
support and guidance? 

 
Yes- please see points above  

Sustain and recovery 
 

What actions have we taken to support the transition arrangements for learners with SEN? 
 
What is currently working well 
Placement panels for specialist educational placements have continued to take place, in 
an adapted format, to ensure that planning continues in preparation for learners’ return to 
school. 
Alternate arrangements have been made for transition where learners are changing 
placement: phone calls, booklets and virtual tours are currently replacing the traditional 
school transition visits 
Early Years transition information from Flying Start and non-Flying Start EPs was already 
in place and communicated to schools prior to lockdown. The EPS continue to monitor this 
to ensure that the pre-schoolers who were due to enter nursery in April can do so in 
September, or when schools reopen. The needs of the known nursery pupils due to 
transition to school have been considered as part of the schools’ allocation of money for 
enhanced provision.  

Page 38



11 
 

 
Main issues to be considered, both nationally and local, in planning for recovery 
A phased introduction will be required for all learners returning to school however this is 
especially important for pupils with SEN who are transitioning to a new placement. 
 

 

2. Learners who are eligible for free school meals – areas you may wish to consider 

Curriculum and learning 
 

Can we be assured that we have identified the level of risk to the continuity of learning of 
each e-FSM learner and how have we used this information to inform our response and 
provision? 
 
The intial concern with regards to learners eFSMs was in respect to the delivery of free 
meals, this then morphed into a system of vouchers and direct payment. Free supplies of 
sanitary products have been distributed to the hubs and across the community for those 
young females who require these products. Those pupils who are digitally excluded have 
been identified and paper based resources have been distributed to them either by 
schools or by LA colleagues (e.g. EAL and GTs). In addition to this schools have lent IT 
equipment and the LA has purchased IT equipment with the funds provided by WG to 
ensure continutiy of learning.  
 
What is working well 
 
Schools 

All schools have deployed heads of year and or attendance/wellbeing officers to keep in 
touch with pupils and provide pastoral or academic advice. Most schools have issued 
guidance to parents and pupils regarding the process for GCSE grades via social media 
platforms, school website and by letter. Only a very few pupils/parents have contacted 
schools regarding concerns about GCSE grades. Schools work well in supporting pupils 
regarding future learning pathways by ensuring that most pupils have a destination to go 
to when they leave year 11.  This has been achieved by ensuring that heads of year 11 
work closely with pupils, parents, Merthyr College and Careers Wales.  
The ‘virtual’ open day provided by Merthyr College regarding FE courses received a 
positive response from pupils.  
Schools were quick to react to providing distance learning activities and most schools 
have done this well through various platforms.  
Schools have worked well to ensure that vulnerable learners have been provided with 
digital equipment and regularly hand deliver resources to pupil’s homes if necessary.  
 
CSC 

Challenge Advisers have worked collaboratively with the LA to support schools in 
ascertaining how many vulnerable pupils were at risk of being digitally excluded from 
accessing online learning resources and the information from this survey has allowed the 
LA to provide electronic devices to vulnerable learners. In addition, Challenge Advisers 
have worked with schools to assess the school’s confidence in delivering online learning 
content to their learners. Where schools have needed support, this has been brokered 
accordingly. 
 
However, it is important to note that the advice from Challenge Advisers with regards to 
continuity of learning has been centred on the premise that distance learning for pupils 
should not be exclusively about providing material that is only accessible through an 
online platform but should be a ‘blended’ approach with a mix of digital and non-digital 

Page 39



12 
 

material.   All Challenge Advisers have received professional development training 
regarding continuity of learning under pandemic conditions to best support their schools 
and give accurate advice and guidance. CSC have also provided the same professional 
development training to all officers within the LA Learning Department in order that all 
officers both LA and CSC have a common understanding of the challenges that are facing 
all pupils including those who are most vulnerable.  
Challenge Advisers have signposted all schools to utilise the guidance and advice that 
has been provided by Qualifications Wales and the WJEC regarding centre assessed 
grades for the summer of 2020.  
 
Youth Service  

Targeted Youth Service Teams employing KIT strategies have generally had success in 
maintaining contact with young people.  Most young people prefer contact via telephone 
or text rather than video conferencing.  Many young people are happy to discuss issues 
they face, including school work and support is given on how young people can manage 
their time effectively.  Staff have been able to send resource packs to young people and 
parents that can support mental health and wellbeing.Please note that this is only with 
young people who were engaged with the service prior to lockdown. 
 
Open access youth provisions have been able to offer weekly on-line activities to 
members and the staff also keep in touch with their most vulnerable young people and are 
available to contact to discuss any issues they may have. 
 
What needs to be refined 
Some parents are reporting that they would benefit from a more robust package on how to 
support their children to engage in home learning as some feel that they do not have the 
skills or the confidence to do this effectively, if at all. 
 
The use of a variety of on-line platforms to deliver interventions and on-line courses is 
limited due to concerns around privacy and safeguarding, this can stifle innovation as 
young people use a vast array of social media platforms. However, we are aware of our 
safeguarding responsibilities.  
 
Barriers to overcome 
The ability and willingness of the vulnerable pupils to complete the work. A lot of the 
motivation will need to come from the parents or carers. The worry is whether the 
vulnerable pupils are finding this way of working more challenging and therefore falling 
further behind their peers.  
 
Some young people report that they do not want to discuss issues over the phone or via 
video conferencing, with video conferencing being particularly problematic either due to 
the confidence of the young person or, in some cases, data usage limitations on family 
internet contracts. 
 
Some young people are not happy with staying at home and are breaking the lockdown 
guuidance, some refuse to engage in their school work or do not have the internet or 
equipment access to do so.  
 
Some young people associate the work of their youth worker/lead worker as an extension 
of school work and do not want to engage in anything other than basic keeping in touch. 
 
It is generally felt by front line workers that telephone/vido conferencing is not a suitable 
medium for the delivery of in-depth interventions, completion of  action plans and overall 
judgements about a young person’s wellbeing due to the lack of visual informaton/cues. 
 

Page 40



13 
 

This is also not a long term solution to engagment in open access settings and there are 
concerns about when open access provisiion will, once again, be open to young people. 
 
It is not easy to build a relationship with newly referred young people using these current 
methods. 
 
Some young people are reporting that they are happier now that they are not in school 
and quite early like their own company e.g. some of pupils with ASD.  
 
Further guidance, support and professional learning needs 
Clear guidance on GCSE and other KS4 courses and how they will look over the next two 
years from Qualifications Wales and WJEC.  
 
Lots of information is being circulated from a lot of different sources via email, it may not 
always be in a suitable format for parents and young people to access. 
 

How are we ensuring that all learners eligible for free school meals have access to 
technology that enables them to engage with learning resources on Hwb and other 
platforms? 
 
As above in previous responses and those made below for EAL/GTs  

What arrangements have been put in place to ensure that e-fsm learners in year 10 and 
year 12 will not be unfairly disadvantaged in their progress through GCSE, vocational, AS 
and A level courses?  
 
Merthyr Tydfil is tertiary authority so support for Year 12 is made via the local College. For 
Yare 10 efsm pupils, similar approaches to other efsm pupils have been put in place, each 
secondary school has also developed a clear timetable of distance learning to ensure that 
work from different subject areas is delivered in a managed an cohesive manner so as not 
to overwhelm the learners. Year 10 were one of the priority year groups for ensuring 
access to digital hardware. 
 
 

What arrangements have we made to support current year 11 and 13 e-fsm learners to 
support them with concerns about their examination grades and progression routes?    
 
As per comments above and below 

What arrangements do we have for e-fsm learners following courses in partnership with 
FE providers such as junior apprenticeships and 14-16 part time vocational courses when 
they do not spend the whole of the school week in their home school? 
 
As per comments above  

 
Schools, tutors, and LA staff are liaising closely with the college to ensure that these 
pupils have access to learning and that their wellbeing is supported.  

Welfare, equity and wellbeing 
 

What arrangements are in place to utilise the skills and expertise of wider local authority 
services such as the Youth Service, Families First and Flying Start to support our 
continuity of learning provision for e-fsm learners? 
 
The Families First Manager sits on the education led Vulnerable learners’ panel. This 
provides a link to Families First projects and the Early Help Hub, which is where the 
Merthyr Tydfil Team Around the Family model sits. 

Page 41



14 
 

 
The benefits of this is to have knowledge of many interventions that the vulnerable 
learners may require, as well as the sharing of information when the learners are already 
involved with Families First. 
 
In addition, Families First contributes several keyworkers to keep in touch with families at 
this vulnerable time. This has allowed for a stronger partnership working and information 
sharing around these pupils.   
 

What steps have we taken to engage with the voluntary sector/3rd sector organisations to 
contribute to arrangements to support e-fsm learners and their families? 
 
There has been strong engagement with the voluntary/ 3rd sector. Agencies have made 
changes to their services for support for Domestic Violence, anxiety, mental health, 
Universal Credit, Parenting, and general online advice to enable continuity of delivery. 
Healthy Schools have developed new online family relationships resources for 
parents/carers which have been duly shared. The Youth Forum has continued to promote 
and share its resources to support pupil mental health and this is shared on their facebook 
page a specific social media platform (PADET) The Youth Forum developed a recycling 
and upcycling competition to encourage participation and as a diversion to support mental 
health and environmental issues.  

What arrangements have we made for the provision of ongoing careers advice and 
guidance?  If we have arrangements, for example piloting the Gatsby Benchmarks, how 
are we using this expertise in the current context? 
 
Careers Wales have continued to provide their services, although these are also only 
available via phone or online at present. School and I2A staff, tutors and the college have 
liaised with Careers Wales to ensure that learners continue to plan for their future. Career 
Wales are also producing a series of videos from secondary school alumni to encourage 
young people to consider their options. 
  

What arrangements have we made to ensure that no pupil is disadvantaged because of 
difficulties in their family context to provide support or a place for learning?   
As per previous comments  
 

To what extent are schools with strong community focus continuing to provide wellbeing 
support for families and children in receipt of free school meals? How can we be assured 
that this is effective? 
 
Schools and LA colleagues are keeping in touch with all their pupils, especially those 
identified as vulnerable. A robust KIT system is in place as well as an escalation process 
for any concerns. 

How can we be assured that our approach to the provision of free school meals is 
addressing the needs of learners and families effectively enough? 
As above  

Organisational 
 

What arrangements are in place to establish sustained contact with hard to reach e-fsm 
learners and their families?  Are we, as a local authority/school, confident that our keeping 
in contact arrangements are sufficiently comprehensive and address the specific 
challenges experienced by individual e-fsm learners and their families? 
 
As above  

Page 42



15 
 

How successful are our arrangements to work with other local authority service areas? 
Are there any examples emerging that might be considered as effective practice and could 
be shared more widely? 
 
The current situation has shown how more joined up working practices have resulted in 
strengthened communication channels.  

What actions have we taken to consider how support staff, particularly family engagement 
officers and wellbeing support officers have a clear role in the continuity of learning for e-
fsm learners?   
 
All schools have deployed teaching staff and or attendance/wellbeing officers/FLOs to 
keep in touch with pupils and provide pastoral or academic advice.  

Sustain and recovery 
 

How are we working with schools to ensure that e-fsm learners are ready to make the 
transition from year 6?  How can we be assured that these learners are sufficiently well 
prepared for this step? 
 

All secondary schools have produced social media materials for those pupils in year 6 and 
for those with ALN to support transition. Primary Schools with learning resources bases 
have undertaken similar activities for their new intake as has Greenfiled Special School. 
These have been shared via booklets and videos. This type of a resource would be 
beneficial to retain moving forward as it would help to ease anxiety caused by the thought 
of change.  

What actions are we taking to prepare e-fsm learners for the return to sustained 
engagement in learning either virtually or in face to face contexts? 
 
As above  

3. Learners who have English as an Additional Language, families with low literacy 

levels, learners who are Gypsy Roma Traveller or from a minority ethnic background – 

areas you may wish to consider 

Curriculum and learning 
 

How are we and our schools supporting families who may not have access to hardware 
suitable for the continuation of learning at home? This may relate to linguistic, financial, or 
cultural barriers. 
 
Schools have delivered paper- based resources to pupils as well as loaning chrome books 
to those who need them most.  
 
The EAL/GT Team has identified digitally excluded families and has provided them with 
paper-based resource packs. The EAL/GT Team has purchased a range of books to 
support both education and wellbeing.  

What arrangements have we established to support families where there is a limited 
understanding of the curriculum their children are following? Are they able to support the 
continuation of learning at home?  
 
Schools have been KIT with their EAL/GT pupils and raising any concerns using the 
process in place. In addition to this, the EAL/GT Team has been making home visits and 
weekly KIT phone calls. Additional resources have been provided when required. Support 
and advice offered, including informing keyworker families about Hub schools’ provision 
and applications for FSMs. 
 

Page 43



16 
 

Is there a collective and flexible approach based on regular contact with families? 
Is tailored support available based upon need and/or age?   
 
There is a coordinated and approach to KIT between the schools, and the various teams 
within the LA. Resource packs have been provided to learners based on age and ability. 

Welfare, equity and wellbeing 
 

In addressing continuity of learning, how have we maintained focus on pupil and family 
wellbeing? Are we using this information to best support hard to reach families?  
 
Support and advice provided where home visits and weekly KIT calls have revealed 
issues; good joined-up working with schools, agencies, and Hub schools; welfare visits 
carried out.  Vulnerable pupils followed up on a weekly basis. Sanitary products have 
provided to pupils of Years 5/6 and of secondary school age 

Are we able to draw upon support from partner agencies to provide support for families 
experiencing these difficulties or signpost to organisations that can help? Are there 
opportunities for families and learners to seek support, especially where there are sudden 
and profound changes to home life?  
 
There are tight partner agency working arrangements in place. Families and learners can 
seek support via the Vulnerable learners process should their circumstances change.  
Referrals made regarding food parcels, applications for free school meals, wellbeing, and 
places in Hub schools etc have all been addressed.   

Organisational 
 

How do we ensure we hold accurate and up-to-date information so that families are 
contactable?  How successful have we been in establishing and maintaining regular 
contact with these specific groups of learners?  
 
Database of vulnerable pupils managed by Inclusion. Vulnerable pupils identified and 
contacted on a weekly basis. Home visits made to check on welfare and deliver education 
material.  

How have we managed to maintain communication with parents of EAL learners? Are all 
languages equally accessible?  
 
Polish BSA maintains contact with Polish families. More difficult with other families but 
barriers to language have been overcome.  

Do our systems support effective cross LA working to meet the needs of learners with 

EAL, GRT learners, and learners where there are low levels of literacy at home? 

 

There is a good joined up approach to meeting the needs of our EAL/GT learners. 
Schools have delivered paper- based resources to pupils as well as loaning chrome books 
to those who need them most.  
 
The EAL/GT Team has identified digitally excluded families and has provided them with 

paper-based resource packs. The EAL/GT Team has purchased a range of books to 

support both education and wellbeing. In addition to this, the EAL/GT Team has been 

making home visits and weekly KIT phone calls.  

Are there successful processes in place to promote the sharing of good practice with 
regard to these groups of learners?   
 
Good communication links with schools and Hub schools and the tight joined up approach 
of multi-agency working.  

Page 44



17 
 

Do we feel that provision of IT equipment for these groups of learners during the period of 

impact of the COVID 19 pandemic would be beneficial and practical to administer/fund? 

 

Some digitally excluded learners have received equipment via schools. However, other 

families struggle with limited internet service and multiple demands on technology and 

connections. Additional equipment would not be suitable for these families without 

improved broadband service. Some families have expressed a preference for paper-

based resources.  

 

Sustain and recovery 
 

Is there sufficient specific focus on ensuring an effective flow of information to ensure 

these groups are aware of the support, which is available locally, and of arrangements as 

the pandemic develops?   How effective is communication to create and maintain dialogue 

with hard to reach families? 

 

Confident that we have opened dialogue with our harder to reach families. They welcome 

the KIT calls and know where to come for support and advice. Further consideration 

needs to be given the accessibility of some information.  

 

4. Learners who are EOTAS  

Curriculum and learning 
 

To what extent have we taken a co-ordinated approach with our EOTAS providers to 
develop, deliver and support suitable modes of learning for learners receiving EOTAS, 
including for alternative and/or vocational provision that may be difficult to replicate or 
sustain through online or remote learning programmes? 
 
There has been strong partnership working with EOTAS providers, particularly with regard 
to Special Tuition to deliver remote learning. Learners were given workpacks at the start of 
lockdown phase. Learners have been contacted daily where possible to ascertain level of 
need in terms of any additional work, with some learners returning work by email, post 
and/or drop off to a central location. Initial advice to avoid live streaming of lessons has 
been adhered to.   
 
Since the closure of Ty Dysgu Dowlais and Ty Dysgu Homfray on 20/03/20 the 
following measures have been in place to support learners remotely: 

 Initial home learning packs were made and collated on 19/03 & 20/03 and were 
distributed to all 

 pupils’ homes on 20/03. 

 ALNCo is placing regular wellbeing calls to all students and more work has been 
provided as and when it is required. 

 KS2 and KS3 pupils have been invited to join the “Seesaw” on-line learning 
community (instructions and QR codes were delivered) and work has been placed 
on this platform by staff. 

 Maths instructional videos to go with the paper-based work have been recorded 
and uploaded by staff. 

 KS3 & 4 pupils have also been set Wellbeing tasks via their Khan Academy 
accounts, with which they are familiar, as they use  this platform regularly in school 
– an identified staff member is monitoring usage and engagement and rewards 
have been offered as an incentive to engagement 

Page 45



18 
 

 KS3 & 4 pupils were sent out a “Digital Passport” document containing their HWB 
password, Khan Academy log in details and iDEA log in details 

 Careers Wales has produced a digital newsletter for Year 10 & 11 students with 
contact details-this has been sent to learners via our Teachers2Parents 
communications 

 I2A staff have fed back information regarding learner wellbeing and have 
distributed activities and helped us to distribute work 

 TDD/TDH staff have participated in the collation of information for SEBD panel and 
CP meetings and staff have participated in meetings remotely 

 Staff have been undertaking remote learning in Safeguarding (Level 3 training 
provided by HWB), Google Classrooms and ADHD/ASD 

 

What actions have we taken to support EOTAS providers to facilitate learner access to 
devices, connectivity and suitable learning resources to enhance continuity of learning? 
 
An assessment of need was carried out by tuition staff and devices have been made 
available via the ‘home’ school and LA. 

How can we assure ourselves that suitable transition arrangements are in place for key 
learner groups in receipt of EOTAS, including Year 6, and for maintaining continuity of 
learning for progression for Y11 and post-16, whether that is in a school, FEI or a WBL 
setting? 
 
All Y11s have been  kept updated of their College applications, and nearly all have seen 
no detrimental impact, in terms of any Y12 destination plans. 
The college has been working with the Welsh Government, other FE colleges, regional 
consortia and schools across Wales to develop a range of materials and resources to 
support year 11 transition. These resources and materials have been uploaded onto a 
dedicated Year 11 Bridge to Post 16 Learning Hwb. 
 
The Hwb provides an extensive range of information, which will be regularly up-dated, to 
help learners explore their Post 16 options. 
 
https://hwb.gov.wales/distance-learning/post-16-learning-and-skills/year-11-bridge-to-post-
16-learning-and-skills/  
 
In addition to the Hwb, the college is in the process of finalising their own sets of year 11 
transition materials for each individual subject area. These will be emailed out to all of 
their applicants straight after Whitsun. The links will also be sent to the secondary schools 
to put on their class charts and other communication platforms that they have for pupils 
and parents.  
 

Welfare, equity and wellbeing 
 

To what extent do we have a co-ordinated approach between our local authority and 
EOTAS providers for communicating with and supporting our learners and their parents 
and carers?  
 
Daily contact, KIT procedures and panel meetings have helped ensure welfare. Tuition 
staff have attended all online care and support meetings, social services, etc. All learner 
families have been supportd via telephone calls and staff have been available to take 
calls. Colleagues from Special Tution attend the weekly Special Tuition Panel and 
Vulnerable Learners Panel and are aware of the process to follow should there be any 
concerns.   

Page 46

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fhwb.gov.wales%2Fdistance-learning%2Fpost-16-learning-and-skills%2Fyear-11-bridge-to-post-16-learning-and-skills%2F&data=02%7C01%7CMarie.Saunders%40gov.wales%7Cef8e4387f7b241d65a5e08d7fb616e4b%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637254268183674777&sdata=8lZwkbQ2XBlCfyR%2FZLshfsIkf3zqX6te%2F19CC9zf4nA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fhwb.gov.wales%2Fdistance-learning%2Fpost-16-learning-and-skills%2Fyear-11-bridge-to-post-16-learning-and-skills%2F&data=02%7C01%7CMarie.Saunders%40gov.wales%7Cef8e4387f7b241d65a5e08d7fb616e4b%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637254268183674777&sdata=8lZwkbQ2XBlCfyR%2FZLshfsIkf3zqX6te%2F19CC9zf4nA%3D&reserved=0


19 
 

The ALNCo at TDD/TDH is placing regular wellbeing calls to all students and more work 
has been provided as and when it is required. 
 

What are our arrangements and expectations for EOTAS providers for recording, 
reporting, monitoring and follow-up on learner attendance and staying-in-touch plans?    
 
All staff record and monitor levels of pupil engagement. This is shared at panel meetings 
and escalted should there be any concerns.   

What actions have we taken to facilitate, strengthen and assure ourselves of learner on-
line safety? 
 
Information has been shared with staff, parents and pupils on how to stay safe online and 
the original guidance not to live-stream was adhered to. 
 

What steps have we taken to ensure continued access to multi-agency services for 
learners receiving  EOTAS, which includes theraputic support for those with mental health 
difficulties and/or challenging behaviour?    
 
Exchange counselling services, BST/Outreach telephon consultation, I2A support, EPS 
helpline and Wellbeing packs will continue to be offered,  but this does not replace the 
benefits of face to face delivery.  

Are we continuing to offer respite provision, and have we considered extending this 
provision in the current context? 
 
Respite provision has been offered, but to date the take up by our EOTAS pupils has been 
low.  

Organisational 
 

What arrangements have we made to ensure that our inclusion services and resource 
plans facilitate and support suitable access to hub and distance learning for all EOTAS 
learners? 
As above  

What arrangements have we put in place to support EOTAS learners by re-shaping the 
responsibilities of officers and practitioners such as teachers, teaching assistants and 
youth workers to ensure coverage of wellbeing and learning provision?   
As above  

To what extent have we established a co-ordinated approach between the local authority 
education and other directorates (particularly social care, where appropriate),  to 
determine and manage the risk factors for families of and learners in receipt of EOTAS?  
As above 

Sustain and recovery 
 

Do we have a co-ordinated approach across our local authority for developing and 
implementing suitable plans to retain learner engagement over time, and re-integrate 
learners in receipt of EOTAS after a prolonged period out of education? 
 
After May half term there will be a review of this year’s staffing structure, curriculum and 
timetable and then plans for 2020-2021 will be outlined – remote meetings will be held 
where necessary and surveys/SWOT analysis will be distributed via TEAMS. There will 
also be discussion with partner schools, Merthyr College and other potential stakeholders 
e.g. Black Sheep Training, 
Forest School. 

  

Page 47



20 
 

5. Vulnerable children (including children on the CPR, looked after children, young 

carers, children and young people who offend) – areas you may wish to consider 

Curriculum and learning 
 

How have we made sure that these CYP have the necessary resources to engage in 
education, eg regular supplies of books and stationery, ipad/Chromebook/laptop, 
broadband access?   
 
Schools are keyworking for their CLA and CPR pupils, including regular KIT, provision of 
planned work packs and online resources.  
  
Support packs have been produced by a variety of agencies (including EPS, CSC, 
voluntary sector and WG) on numerous subjects (for example bereavement, anxiety, 
online learning). These have been shared with foster carers via the Foster Carers 
Facebook Page and Whatsapp group, and with all staff within Children’s Services.  The 
LACES team, supported by Twynyroden Community Centre and Stephens and George 
Charitable Trust have devised and distributed learning resource packs for all of our CLA 
pupils to support engagement and learning and assist placement stability.   
 

In discussion with Children’s Services/other services, what agreed arrangements have we 
made to enable these CYP to attend school for learning and for wellbeing and mental 
health benefits?   
As above 

Colleagues across the LA are aware of the Admissions Panel and Vulnerable Learners 
Panel processes and have representation on both.  

What similar arrangements have we made to support other children and young people at 
risk but who do not meet the threshold for child protection and how are we identifying 
them?   
 
The colleagues from Children’s Services and the CLA Education Coordinator sits on the 
weekly ALN Clearing panel and Special Tuition panel ensuring that crucial decisions and 
support in relation to CLA pupils are not deferred/delayed.  Statement reviews have 
started to be held virtually and the LACES Team form part of these meetings for all CLA 
pupils.   
Support packs have been produced by a variety of agencies (including EPS, CSC, 
voluntary sector and WG) on numerous subjects (for example bereavement, anxiety, 
online learning). These have been shared with foster carers via the Foster Carers 
Facebook Page and Whatsapp group, and with all staff within Children’s Services.  The 
LACES team, supported by Twynyroden Community Centre and Stephens and George 
Charitable Trust have devised and distributed learning resource packs for all of our CLA 
pupils to support engagement and learning and assist placement stability.   
There is an allocated Looked after Children Education Service (LACES) officer allocated 
to each CLA pupil – their role is to liasie closely with schools, as well as KIT with CLA 
pupils and carers on a regular basis, escalating any concerns to the Team Manager (CLA 
Education Coordinator).  Referrals are forwarded to the weekly LA Vulnerable learners 
panel if further escalation is required – the CLA Education Coordinator forms part of this 
panel.  Continued dialogue between the CLA Education Coordinator and Team Managers 
for CLA and Family Support ensure that timely referrals are made for CLA pupils where 
there is need.   
 

Have we discussed with the YOT and other relevant support agencies and agreed suitable 
opportunities for these young people to attend school or other providers in order to keep 
them engaged in learning and to support their mental health and wellbeing?   To what 

Page 48



21 
 

extent have we collaborated with other providers such as FE colleges and work-based 
learning in order to provide these learners with vocational learning opportunities?  
 
Regular dialogue with CLA Education Coordinators in other LA’s to monitor and address 
the support needs of Merthyr Tydfil CLA pupils placed out of county, and CLA placed in 
Merthyr Tydfil by other LA’s.  This is in addition to regular dialogue with the allocated 
social worker and relevant Team Manager.   
 

Welfare, equity and wellbeing 
 

How have we planned support in collaboration with other services, such as Young Carers 
Trust and third sector organisations, to provide mental health and wellbeing interventions 
for young carers during school hours? 
As above 

How have we ensured that contact details of support agencies that are available to young 
carers are shared with the children and young people?  
 
All relevant information has been shared with schools and LA colleagues. This has in turn 
been shared with learners and posted on school websites.  

Organisational 
 

Is our record of all children and young people in these groups in every school accurate? 
How can we assure ourselves that we hold the most current information?   For example, 
what arrangements have we made with the Youth Offending Team to ensure that all CYP 
who offend are known to the LA education service? 
 

This type of information is communicated via the Bronze Command Group and then 
disseminated accordingly.  

How have we ensured that these CYP have access to a named ‘trusted adult’ from their 
schools who will check in on them regularly by telephone/email?  
 
Schools are keyworking for their CLA & CPR pupils, including regular KIT, provision of 
planned work packs and online resources. Those best placed in the school to KIT with the 
CYP have been identified to do so.  
 

What actions have we taken to provide more educational support to foster carers, kinship 
carers, parents whose children are looked after but remain living at home and staff in 
residential homes? 
 

- Weekly KIT via LACES – These calls offer academic/wellbeing support to young 
people as well as support, guidance and signposting to parents and carers.  

- Regular engagement tools sent out to foster carers via the Facebook and 
Whatsapp group.   

- Regular laision between LACES and social workers to identify families where 
pressure is building.  This allow us to idenfify the families that may require more 
intensive Children’s Services support, as well as more intensive KIT support from 
schools and possible referral to Vulnerable pupil panel/hub application.   

- Learning resource packs have been distrubuted to all our CLA pupils.  
 

What measures have we put in place to ensure that school staff participate in LAC 
statutory reviews in order to plan and review specific education provision through the 
PEP? 
 

Page 49



22 
 

The allocated LACES worker is responsible for liaising with the relevant school to ensure 
that the PEP is updated and available in readiness for the CLA review.  The LACES 
worker confirms the remote contact details for the relevant school staff member who will 
partake in the Statutory Review.  This information is passed by the LACES worker to the 
social worker and Independent Reviewing Officer in readiness for the meeting.  Any 
issues in relation to this process are escalated to the CLA Education Coordinator.   
 

How have we planned support in collaboration with other services, such as CAMHS Early 
Intervention and Prevention Service and school nursing, to provide mental health and 
wellbeing interventions during school hours for LAC and other children and young people 
at risk? 
 

PCAMHS clinicians have offered his support to the Exchange counselling service in order 
to enable more access to mental health and wellbeing interventions for all pupils who may 
require this.  

Sustain and recovery 
 

Are we ensuring that relevant school staff are attending important and statutory planning 
and review meetings for children at risk, including child protection case conferences, core 
group meetings, statutory LAC reviews and other multi-agency meetings? 
 
School staff and/or LA staff are continuing to provide reports and attend child protection 
case conferences, core group meetings, statutory LAC reviews and other multi-agency 
meetings to ensure that review meetings for those learners at the greatest risk continue.  

 

Sustain and recovery 

The current situation has meant that we need to work differently and because of tighter 

partnership working, stronger channels of communication and working arrangements have 

become evident. One such clear example of this, is the weekly Vulnerable Leaners Panel. 

This could continue in its present form but meet on a monthly or half-termly basis.  

As part of our recovery plan we will need to critically re-think some of our approaches to 

enable the continuity of learning. A key part of our recovery plan will be the need to focus on 

wellbeing of all learners and staff. We are mindful that some learners may not want to return 

to school, while others may feel anxious about doing so and some will not be used to being 

back in busy rooms. To support children and young people returning to school the curriculum 

will need to focus on wellbeing. Training has been developed for school staff and keyworkers 

in order to ensure that they are more able to support learners, and themselves, on the 

trauma of lockdown. This will need to be context specific and will be geared to staff dealing 

with pupils and preventing multi-agency services getting overwhelmed. 

Schools have produced materials for those pupils in year 6 and for those with ALN to 

support transition. These have been via booklets and videos. This type of a resource would 

be beneficial to retain moving forward as it would help to ease anxiety caused by the thought 

of change. 

This a good time to look at whole school approaches to health and wellbeing and planning 

the new curriculum and the ALNET. A particular focus will be a whole school approach to 

mental health and wellbeing. It could involve utilising established approaches to attachment 

and trauma for example Trauma Informed Schools (TIS), Thrive and ACE awareness. This 

would involve remote training for staff to upskill and prepare effectively for the pupils. Much 

attention will need to be paid to the wellbeing of the staff and the concerns and worries that 

Page 50



23 
 

they have. It will be a difficult time for the staff and attention should be paid to alleviating as 

many fears as a school can with effective communication and support mechanisms in place. 

Most schools should be well placed for this having been part of the Edsupport Staff 

Wellbeing Survey.  

Ensuring that parents and pupils understand that GCSE and other KS4 learning pathways 

will not look the same when schools do eventually return. In essence, schools and the way in 

which learning that occurs will look completely different compared to what they were like pre- 

March 2020 and this will need to be communicated to all pupils and parents.  

The current situation has ensued an improved engagement with some of our harder to reach 

families and this improved trust and communication could further strengthened.  

The development of a checklist for schools will help to ensure that the move back into school 

will be as smooth as possible. This will consider the following; 

 Commuication- needs to be accessible for all  

 Curriculum- a mixture of pastoral and curriclum  

 Online learning- mindful of the fact that a number of pupils would prefer face to face 

delivery  

 Classroom arrangement- group work,space for one to one support  

 Staffing 

 Registration 

 Triage 

 Socail distancing 

 Health 

 Personal hygiene 

 Cleaning 

 Transport  

 Playground/break time arrangements  

 PPE 

 Storage 

 Breakfast Clubs/ catering 

 Delivery of ouside providers on the school site e.g. Peri Teachers   

 

Further consideration would need to given to the following; 

 How training could be adapted to an online delivery e.g. Manual Handling, First Aid  

 Any changes to the terms and conditions of the PDG grant will have an implication on 

school budgets.  

 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 

Covid 19 - Attendance at Childcare 
March 2020 to July 2020 
1. Weekly average summary 

 
1.1. Average weekly attendance at childcare – all school age children 

 

 

23
-M

ar
 

30
-M

ar
 

06
-A

p
r 

13
-A

p
r 

20
-A

p
r 

27
-A

p
r 

04
-M

ay
 

11
-M

ay
 

18
-M

ay
 

25
-M

ay
 

01
-J

u
n

 

08
-J

u
n

 

15
-J

u
n

 

22
-J

u
n

 

29
-J

u
n

 

06
-J

u
l 

13
-J

u
l 

Average no. 
children attending 

63.25 53.6 23 23.4 66.4 74.6 67.0 94.4 102.6 39.2 112.2 118.2 126.0 147.0 174.8 175.4 154.0 

Average no. KW 
children 

52.75 48.2 22.4 21.2 55.2 54.4 43.6 63.0 65.0 31.8 66.6 64.4 72.6 93.2 122.8 122.2 102.6 

Average no. 
vulnerable children 

10.5 5.4 0.6 2.2 11.2 20.2 23.4 31.4 37.6 7.4 45.6 53.8 53.4 53.8 52.0 53.2 51.4 

 

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

23-Mar 30-Mar 06-Apr 13-Apr 20-Apr 27-Apr 04-May 11-May 18-May 25-May 01-Jun 08-Jun 15-Jun 22-Jun 29-Jun 06-Jul 13-Jul

A
ve

ra
ge

 d
ai

ly
  n

o
. p

er
 w

ee
k

Week commencing

All school aged children receiving childcare

No. KW children No. vulnerable children

P
age 53



 

1.2. Average weekly attendance at childcare – all school age children attending school hubs 

 

23
-M

ar
 

30
-M

ar
 

06
-A

p
r 

13
-A

p
r 

20
-A

p
r 

27
-A

p
r 

04
-M

ay
 

11
-M

ay
 

18
-M

ay
 

25
-M

ay
 

01
-J

u
n

 

08
-J

u
n

 

15
-J

u
n

 

22
-J

u
n

 

29
-J

u
n

 

06
-J

u
l 

13
-J

u
l 

Average no. 
children attending 

63.25 47.8 1.6 3.2 47.2 56.8 50.0 72.0 72.2 9.2 80.6 87.8 91.0 133.6 160.4 160.4 138.0 

Average no. KW 
children 

52.75 42.6 1.6 1.8 37.8 38.6 27.6 42.2 41.0 8.2 43.4 43.4 45.4 82.2 110.4 109.8 89.6 

Average no. 
vulnerable children 

10.5 5.2 0 1.4 9.4 18.2 22.4 29.8 31.2 1.0 37.2 44.4 45.6 51.4 50.0 50.6 48.4 

 

 

 

  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

23-Mar 30-Mar 06-Apr 13-Apr 20-Apr 27-Apr 04-May 11-May 18-May 25-May 01-Jun 08-Jun 15-Jun 22-Jun 29-Jun 06-Jul 13-Jul

A
ve

ra
ge

 d
ai

ly
  n

o
. p

er
 w

ee
k

Week commencing

School aged children attending school Hubs

No. KW children No. vulnerable children

P
age 54



 

1.3. Average weekly attendance at childcare – all school age children attending early years settings 

 

23
-M

ar
 

30
-M

ar
 

06
-A

p
r 

13
-A

p
r 

20
-A

p
r 

27
-A

p
r 

04
-M

ay
 

11
-M

ay
 

18
-M

ay
 

25
-M

ay
 

01
-J

u
n

 

08
-J

u
n

 

15
-J

u
n

 

22
-J

u
n

 

29
-J

u
n

 

06
-J

u
l 

13
-J

u
l 

Average no. 
children attending 

  9.7 21.4 20.2 19.2 17.8 21.3 22.4 30.4 30.0 31.6 30.4 35.0 13.4 14.4 15.0 16.0 

Average no. KW 
children 

  9.3 20.8 19.4 17.4 15.8 20.0 20.8 24.0 23.6 23.2 21.0 27.2 11.0 12.4 12.4 13.0 

Average no. 
vulnerable children 

  0.3 0.6 0.8 1.8 2 1.3 1.6 6.4 6.4 8.4 9.4 7.8 2.4 2.0 2.6 3.0 

 

 

 

  

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

23-Mar 30-Mar 06-Apr 13-Apr 20-Apr 27-Apr 04-May 11-May 18-May 25-May 01-Jun 08-Jun 15-Jun 22-Jun 29-Jun 06-Jul 13-Jul

A
ve

ra
ge

 d
ai

ly
  n

o
. p

er
 w

ee
k

Week commencing

School aged children attending early years settings

No. KW children No. vulnerable children

P
age 55



1.4. Average weekly attendance at childcare – pre school children attending early years settings 

 

 

23
-M

ar
 

30
-M

ar
 

06
-A

p
r 

13
-A

p
r 

20
-A

p
r 

27
-A

p
r 

04
-M

ay
 

11
-M

ay
 

18
-M

ay
 

25
-M

ay
 

01
-J

u
n

 

08
-J

u
n

 

15
-J

u
n

 

22
-J

u
n

 

29
-J

u
n

 

06
-J

u
l 

13
-J

u
l 

Average no. 
children attending 

  15.3 14.6 12.8 20.8 26.2 31.5 33.4 33.0 28.4 45.0 48.2 47.0 51.6 69.0 79.0 76.6 

 

 

 

  

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

23-Mar 30-Mar 06-Apr 13-Apr 20-Apr 27-Apr 04-May 11-May 18-May 25-May 01-Jun 08-Jun 15-Jun 22-Jun 29-Jun 06-Jul 13-Jul

A
ve

ra
ge

 d
ai

ly
 n

o
. p

er
 w

ee
k

Week commencing

Pre-school children attending early years settings

Total no. children attending

P
age 56



2. Average number by school hub 

Hub School 

30
-M

ar
 

06
-A

p
r 

13
-A

p
r 

20
-A

p
r 

27
-A

p
r 

04
-M

ay
 

11
-M

ay
 

18
-M

ay
 

25
-M

ay
 

01
-J

u
n

 

08
-J

u
n

 

15
-J

u
n

 

Trelewis Primary School 4.0     2.4 3.2 2.2 3.6 3.0   4.6 4.8 5.6 

Afon Taf High School* 4.8     4.0 6.6 5.4 5.4 6.0 3.2 6.6 7.3 8.0 

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Rhyd-y-Grug 5.4     6.0 6.4 3.4 7.0 7.6   8.6 8.2 8.4 

Greenfield Special School 4.4 1.6 3.2 7.2 8.4 8.2 10.8 9.8   12.2 12.0 13.2 

Caedraw Primary School 20.2     15.4 15.8 12.0 18.6 24.8 6.0 28.2 31.2 30.4 

Goetre Primary School 9.0     12.2 14.6 17.2 25.2 19.4   19.2 24.0 23.2 

Ty Dysgu 0.0     0.0 0.8 1.6 1.4 1.6   1.2 1.8 2.2 

             
* Troedyrhiw prior to 27/04/20, Afon Taf after.             

 

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Trelewis Primary School Afon Taf High School* Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg
Rhyd-y-Grug

Greenfield Special School Caedraw Primary School Goetre Primary School Ty Dysgu

Average pupil numbers per week by Hub school

30-Mar 06-Apr 13-Apr 20-Apr 27-Apr 04-May 11-May 18-May 25-May 01-Jun 08-Jun 15-Jun

P
age 57



3. Pupils attending Check in, Catch up and Prepare sessions 

  
W/C 29/06/2020 W/C 06/07/2020 W/C 13/07/2020 

Number 
expected 

Number 
attended 

% 
Attended 

Number 
expected 

Number 
attended 

% 
Attended 

Number 
expected 

Number 
attended 

% 
Attended 

All Primary schools 4226 2503 59.2% 4132 2457 59.5% 3720 1984 53.3% 

All Secondary 
schools 

1381 503 36.4% 1416 464 32.8% 1729 423 24.5% 

 

P
age 58


	Agenda
	3 Draft Forward Work Programme 2020/21
	Appendix 1

	4 Update on Activity - Pandemic
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3


